07/12/2019

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 18-0661

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 18-0661

AGUSTIN RAMON,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

V.

DARREN SHORT, IN HIS OFFICIAL CAPACITY AS SHERIFF OF LINCOLN COUNTY AND ADMINISTRATOR OF LINCOLN COUNTY DETENTION CENTER,

Defendant and Appellee.

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Alex Rate
Elizabeth K Ehret
ACLU of Montana
P.O. Box 1968
Missoula, MT 59806
406-204-0287
406-204-0284
ratea@aclumontana.org
ehrete@aclumontana.org

Shahid Haque Border Crossing Law Firm 618 Highland St. Helena, MT 59601 406-594-2004 shahid@bordercrossinglaw.com Cody Wofsy\*
Spencer Amdur\*

### **INTRODUCTION**

This case is about whether Montana law authorizes local law enforcement officers—here the Lincoln County Sheriff—to arrest people for allegedly violating the civil provisions of federal immigration law. It does not. Montana statutes set out local officers' arrest authority in great detail, but they neither authorize civil immigration arrests specifically, nor provide any broad authority that would encompass such arrests.

The legal issue in this case is a vital one for this Court to resolve, even though the Plaintiff is no longer in the Sheriff's custody. The federal Department of Homeland Security ("DHS") sends dozens of detainer requests to Montana law enforcement every year, asking local officers to arrest individuals based solely on alleged civil immigration violations. And sheriffs across the state, like the Defendant in this case, have carried out those arrests. Without this Court's intervention, the State's law enforcement officers will continue to curtail people's liberty without any legal authority. And those illegal arrests will continue to evade review, because immigration detainers ask for 48 hours of detention, which is insufficient to litigate a challenge to judgment, especially on appeal.

The Court should therefore apply the exceptions to mootness for issues of public importance and issues that are capable of repetition, yet likely to evade review. And it should join a growing consensus of courts holding that state arrest

laws like Montana's do not authorize local officers to hold people based on federal immigration detainers. *See Lunn v. Commonwealth*, 477 Mass. 517 (2017); *People ex rel. Wells v. DeMarco*, 88 N.Y.S.3d 518 (N.Y. App. Div. 2018); *Cisneros v. Elder*, No. 2018-CV-30549, 2018 WL 7142016 (Colo. Dist. Ct. Dec. 6, 2018); *Esparza v. Nobles Cty.*, No. 53-cv-18-751, 2018 WL 6263254 (Minn. Dist. Ct. Oct. 19, 2018); *Creedle v. Miami-Dade Cty.*, 349 F. Supp. 3d 1276, 1306-08 (S.D. Fla. 2018).

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Does an exception to mootness doctrine apply to this challenge to the lawfulness of a sheriff arresting someone for a violation of civil immigration law, where the issues are of public importance and are likely to both recur and evade review?
- 2. Did the district court err in holding that the Sheriff has state-law authority to conduct a civil immigration arrest in response to a federal detainer request?

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The material facts in this case are undisputed. At the time the complaint was filed, Plaintiff Agustin Ramon lived in Eureka with his wife, Lily McNair. Doc. 5 ¶¶ 1-5. He was arrested on a charge of burglary on August 3, 2018 and booked into the Lincoln County Jail. Doc. 19 Ex. A ¶ 8. His bond was set at \$25,000. *Id*.

The day Mr. Ramon was booked, the jail received a detainer request for him from U.S. Customs and Border Protection ("CBP"), a component of DHS. Doc. 4 Aff. ¶¶ 6-9, Ex. 1. The detainer request indicated that a CBP officer believed Mr. Ramon had violated civil immigration law and requested that the jail detain him for up to 48 hours after he was entitled to release on his state charges—after, for example, he posted bail or was acquitted. Doc. 4, Ex. 1. It is undisputed that the detainer request did not require or order the jail to hold Mr. Ramon for the suspected civil immigration violation. *See Galarza v. Szalczyk*, 745 F.3d 634, 645 (3d Cir. 2014) (holding that immigration detainers are mere requests, not mandatory orders).

Ms. McNair retained a bail bond company and paid the company the agreed-upon fee to post Mr. Ramon's bond. Doc. 5 ¶¶ 6-7. When the company attempted to post the bond at the jail, however, officials there told them doing so would be futile: because of CBP's detainer request, the Sheriff would continue to detain Mr. Ramon even if the bond were paid and he would otherwise be entitled to release. Doc. 5 ¶¶ 8-10; Doc. 4 ¶¶ 11-13; *see also* Doc. 19 Ex. A ¶¶ 5, 7; Doc. 6 ¶¶ 5-7 (jail roster noting "can bond but do not release").

Mr. Ramon's detention represents just one instance in the widespread and increasing use of immigration detainers. Indeed, in fiscal years 2017 and 2018, DHS issued 135 detainers in Montana, more than double the number from the previous

two fiscal years.<sup>1</sup> The vast majority of immigration detainers target people with little to no criminal record.<sup>2</sup>

On October 30, 2018, Mr. Ramon filed a complaint alleging that his continued detention violated Montana law. Doc. 1.3 Mr. Ramon filed an Application for Temporary Restraining Order ("TRO"), Preliminary Injunction, and Order to Show Cause concurrently with his complaint.<sup>4</sup> Doc. 2. The district court held a hearing on November 9, 2018. The Sheriff conceded the material facts, submitting evidence confirming that his office holds people in response to immigration detainers, and that he would not release Mr. Ramon even if his family were to post bail. Doc. 4 Ex. A; Doc. 19 Ex. A ¶¶ 5-6, 7, 10.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See Trans. Records Access Clearinghouse, Syr. Univ., Latest Data: ICE Detainers (Dec. 2018), https://trac.syr.edu/phptools/immigration/detain/. This is consistent with DHS's efforts to increase the numbers of detainers issued nationwide. See John Kelly, Sec'y, Dep't of Homeland Sec., Enforcement of the Immigration Laws to Serve the National Interest, at 2, 4 (Feb. 20, 2017) (removing discretionary guidance about when to issue detainers), https://bit.ly/2miirQd.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See, e.g., Syracuse Univ., New ICE Detainer Guidelines Have Little Impact, Oct. 1, 2013, https://trac.syr.edu/immigration/reports/333/.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Along with the statutory ultra vires claim at issue in this appeal, Mr. Ramon also asserted state constitutional claims.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Pursuant to M. R. App. P. 25(3), the current Sheriff of Lincoln County has been substituted for Roby Bowe, who was Sheriff at the time the complaint was filed. References to the "Sheriff" throughout this brief refer to the Office of the Sheriff. Sheriff Bowe was also sued in his individual capacity for damages; that claim is not currently before this Court.

The district court denied the TRO motion. In its ruling, it first noted that there was undisputed "common ground" as to the key facts of the case, including that Mr. Ramon's family had attempted to post bail for him through a bail bond company, and that the bail bond employee was told the jail would continue to detain Mr. Ramon even if bail were paid. Doc. 27 at 2-3. The district court also rejected the Sheriff's standing and ripeness arguments. *Id.* at 3. In doing so, the court noted the importance of effective judicial review and, given the factual circumstances of this type of case, the difficulty in obtaining review, explaining that "[u]nder the Defendant's argument, the matter will never be ripe or by the time a court can review the issue it will be moot." *Id.* 

The district court ruled against Mr. Ramon on the merits. It noted his argument that refusing to release an individual when he would otherwise be free to go constitutes an arrest, and must be justified by arrest authority under state law. *See id.* at 5. But it concluded that Mr. Ramon's arrest pursuant to the detainer was authorized by Montana Code § 7-32-2203(3), which addresses "[w]ho may be confined" in Montana jails, and provides that jails can be used to confine "persons committed for contempt or upon civil process or by other authority of law." *Id.* at 6. The opinion reached this conclusion in a single sentence and did not address any of Mr. Ramon's arguments that § 2203(3) is inapplicable. Mr. Ramon timely appealed.

The Sheriff moved to dismiss the appeal as moot on the basis that Mr. Ramon was released from jail and into the custody of DHS on February 11, 2019, after sentencing in his case. Plaintiff opposed the motion, and this Court denied it, directing the parties to brief the merits and whether "an exception to the mootness doctrine" applies. Order (May 28, 2019).

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

When the denial of a temporary injunction "is based solely upon conclusions of law," the Court reviews "the district court's conclusions of law to determine whether the interpretation of the law is correct." *City of Whitefish v. Bd. of Cty. Comm'rs of Flathead Cty. ex rel. Brenneman*, 2008 MT 436, ¶ 7, 347 Mont. 490, 199 P.3d 201. The standard of review is de novo because "no discretion is involved" when reviewing legal conclusions. *Id.* 

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

I. This Court should apply an exception to mootness and reach the merits of this appeal. Two exceptions apply here. The public interest exception applies because the extent of Montana officers' arrest authority presents a question of exceptional public importance, the resolution of which will guide the actions of police and sheriffs throughout the State. Relatedly, a second mootness exception applies because this issue is "capable of repetition yet evading review." Montana jails receive dozens of immigration detainer requests each year, but because the

detainers request 48 hours of additional detention, plaintiffs do not have enough time to litigate their challenges to judgment, especially on appeal. If this Court does not apply an exception to mootness, this critical issue threatens to escape review.

II. Holding a person on an immigration detainer constitutes a new arrest, because it initiates a new detention for a new purpose after the person would otherwise be free to leave. To make this arrest, a law enforcement officer must have arrest authority under state law. But none of Montana's arrest statutes provides authority for local officers to arrest people for civil immigration violations. Montana's arrest framework specifies in great detail when sheriffs and other law enforcement officers can make arrests—with and without a warrant, for civil and criminal matters, for particular types of violations, when helping other law enforcement agencies—but nothing in that scheme authorizes immigration arrests in general or detainer arrests in particular.

The district court did not engage with the structure of arrest authority in Montana law. It instead found authority to arrest Mr. Ramon in a single statute, which spells out the general categories of persons "[w]ho may be confined in a detention center," Mont. Code Ann. § 7-32-2203, including those "committed . . . upon civil process or by other authority of law." But that statute does not provide any arrest authority at all. Rather, as its title states, the statute simply describes who

can be detained in Montana jails after they have already been arrested. In contrast, the statutes that *do* provide arrest authority do so explicitly.

No other source of law supplies the missing arrest authority. The common law does not provide any such authority, as modern arrest authority in Montana comes only from statutes. And even at common law, arrest authority was narrowly circumscribed and did not include civil immigration arrests. Nor does federal law supply the arrest authority that Montana law withholds, as courts across the country have all concluded and as the federal government has itself acknowledged.

This Court should therefore hold that Montana law does not provide authority for a sheriff to carry out civil immigration arrests.

### **ARGUMENT**

## I. The Court Should Apply an Exception to Mootness.

Plaintiff brought this case to challenge his arrest and 48-hour detention as requested by an immigration detainer, but those 48 hours passed before this Court could resolve the merits of his claim. Although Plaintiff is no longer in the Sheriff's custody, the Court should decide the merits of this case because two related exceptions to mootness doctrine apply here: (1) a "public interest exception" for cases that "present[] a question of public importance that will likely recur and whose answer will guide public officers in the performance of their duties," and (2) "an exception for cases involving events of short duration that are capable of repetition,

yet evading review." Gateway Opencut Mining Action Group v. Bd of County Comm'rs, 2011 MT 198, ¶ 14, 361 Mont. 398, 260 P.3d 133.

The public interest exception applies because the authority of Montana officers to make civil immigration arrests is an important and recurring issue, and this Court's ruling is necessary to "guide public officers in the performance of their duties." *Id.* And the exception for issues that are capable of repetition yet evading review applies because the 48-hour detention requested by an immigration detainer leaves individuals like Mr. Ramon unable to obtain a final judgment before they are turned over to DHS.

## A. The Public Interest Exception Applies Because Counties Need Guidance on Whether They Can Make Civil Immigration Arrests.

For the public interest exception to mootness, the Court must find: (1) the existence of a question of public importance (2) whose answer will guide public officers in the performance of their duties, and (3) a likelihood that the question will recur. *See id.* at ¶¶ 14, 24 (recognizing exception).

These three requirements are clearly met. First, the extent of a sheriff's power to deprive Montana residents of their liberty is a question of utmost public importance. Moreover, whether state officers have authority to make civil immigration arrests in particular has been contested in three recent Montana cases: *Valerio-Gonzales v. Jarrett*, Cause No. DV 17-688B (18th Judicial Dist. Gallatin County 2017), 2017 Mont. LEXIS 764, 390 Mont. 427, 410 P.3d 177, the instant

action, and the ongoing case of *Soto-Lopez v. Jarrett*, Cause No. DV-19-212X (18th Judicial Dist. Ct., Gallatin County 2019). Each of these cases has garnered widespread public interest, including more than twenty articles in major media outlets across the state,<sup>5</sup> and the United States filed a statement of interest in *Valerio-Gonzales* and in this case. *See, e.g.*, Doc. 20.

Second, a ruling on the merits would provide crucial guidance to sheriffs across Montana. The court below provided only a cursory, one-sentence analysis, reaching a conclusion that is erroneous as a matter of Montana law—and contrary to the decisions of state courts across the country. *See infra* Part II. Without this Court's guidance, Lincoln County and others will continue to detain people without lawful authority, with a cost not only to individual liberty but also, potentially, to the public fisc. *See, e.g., Roy v. Cty. of Los Angeles*, 2018 WL 914773 (C.D. Cal. Feb. 7, 2018) (granting partial summary judgment against county in large class action for damages relating to detainer practices); *cf. Walker v. State*, 2003 MT 103, ¶ 41, 316 Mont. 103, 68 P.3d 872 (applying exception to mootness in part "to avoid future litigation on a point of law") (quotation marks omitted).

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See, e.g., Phoebe Tollefson, Montana Supreme Court Dismisses Petition by Mexican Man Held by Immigration Officials, BILLINGS GAZETTE (Jan. 2, 2018), https://bit.ly/2G8V0VD; Rima Austin, Ramon Sentenced to Six Years Suspended: Man Who Was Subject of ACLU Against Sheriff Takes Plea Agreement, THE WESTERN NEWS (Feb. 15, 2019), https://bit.ly/2XKJkOJ.

Third, questions about whether Montana law authorizes local immigration arrests are certain to recur until this Court rules on the issue. According to federal government records, DHS sent 135 detainers to Montana counties from 2017 through 2018. *Supra* n.1. And as mentioned, three separate cases in the last two years have raised the issue. Yet, because of immigration detainers' inherently transitory nature, these same issues threaten to go unresolved absent the application of an exception to mootness. *See Fairbanks Fire Fighters Ass'n, Local 1324 v. City of Fairbanks*, 48 P.3d 1165, 1168 (Alaska 2002) (applying public-interest exception where mootness "may cause review of the issues to be repeatedly circumvented"); *see also infra* Part I.B.

The public interest exception to mootness thus applies here. The Court should provide much-needed guidance to Montana law enforcement on this important and recurring issue.

# B. State Officers' Civil Immigration Arrests Will Recur and Continue to Evade Review.

A second, related doctrine also applies to this case: "The exception to mootness for those actions that are capable of repetition, yet evading review." Common Cause of Mont. v. Statutory Comm. to Nominate Candidates for Comm'r of Political Practices (1994), 263 Mont. 324, 328, 868 P.2d 604 (quoting Butte-Silver Bow Local Gov't v. Olsen (1987), 228 Mont. 77, 82, 743 P.2d 564). This

exception requires that "the challenged action must be too short in duration to be fully litigated prior to cessation." *Gateway Opencut*, 2011 MT 198, ¶ 22.

Detainer arrests clearly fit that description, because the requested 48-hour period of detention does not provide enough time to litigate its legality to judgment, especially on appeal. The facts of this case and *Valerio-Gonzales* amply illustrate that concern. In both cases, plaintiffs filed complaints and sought emergency relief while they were in local custody, but they were turned over to DHS before this Court could address the merits of their claims. Absent a ruling from this Court on the merits, that situation is certain to recur, and people held on immigration detainers will be unable to meaningfully challenge the legality of their arrests. That is why courts in other states have applied mootness exceptions to reach the merits of similar detainer cases. *See Lunn*, 477 Mass. at 520-521; *Wells*, 88 N.Y.S. 3d at 525.

While this mootness exception frequently involves "a reasonable expectation that the same complaining party would be subject to the same action again," *Gateway Opencut*, 2011 MT 198, ¶ 22, that is not an absolute requirement. When unlawful detention and other fundamental issues are at stake, this Court applies the exception where it is clear that the challenged practice is likely to recur and evade review as to *someone*, even if not as to the plaintiff.

For instance, in *Walker*, the Court reached the merits of a former detainee's challenge to certain jail practices, even though he had already been released, and

there was no reason to think he would face the same practices "in the foreseeable future." 2003 MT 103, ¶ 44. The Court nonetheless applied the mootness exception because there was "no doubt" that "other . . . inmates[] could be subjected to the same" practices, and as to *those* inmates the issue would continue to evade review. Id. ¶¶ 44, 39 (emphasis added, quotation marks omitted). Likewise, in Wier v. Lincoln Cty. Sheriff's Dep't (1996), 278 Mont. 473, 475-476, 925 P.2d 1172, this Court applied the mootness exception in an inmate's challenge to his bail denial, even though he had already been released and faced no prospect of again being denied bail. And in Matter of N.B. (1980), 190 Mont. 319, 322-323, 620 P.2d 1228, the Court applied the exception without considering whether the same plaintiff was likely to face the challenged policy again, because "approximately 100 Montanans each year" other than the plaintiff were subject to the same policy. Id. at 322-323; see also, e.g., In re Mental Health of K.G.F., 2001 MT 140, ¶¶ 18-20, 306 Mont. 1, 29 P.3d 485 (same), overruled on other grounds by In re J.S., 2017 MT 214, 388 Mont. 397, 401 P.3d 197; Matter of D.L.B., 2017 MT 106, ¶ 12, 387 Mont. 323, 394 P.3d 169 (similar).

The same imperative applies here: Montana officers will continue to make civil immigration arrests as requested by detainers absent guidance from this Court. Those arrests implicate basic liberty interests, and yet they will continue to evade review as inmates are turned over to DHS before this Court has a chance to resolve

their claims. The fact that these cases "will likely be moot before reaching an appellate court . . . necessarily impl[ies] the desirability of an authoritative adjudication on the subject." *Iowa Supreme Court Bd. of Prof'l Ethics & Conduct v. Ramey*, 639 N.W.2d 226, 234 (Iowa 2002). The Court should thus decide the merits of this important issue.

### II. Montana Law Does Not Authorize Civil Immigration Arrests.

The Sheriff's arrest and detention of Mr. Ramon for a suspected civil immigration violation was unlawful. By keeping Mr. Ramon in the jail for a new purpose, after he was otherwise entitled to release, the Sheriff effected a new arrest and therefore needed arrest authority vested in him by Montana law. But there is no such authority. To the contrary, Montana statues exhaustively regulate which violations officers can arrest for, and in what circumstances, but nowhere do they provide authority for civil immigration arrests. Unable to point to any arrest authority, the district court relied entirely on Montana Code § 7-32-2203. But by its own terms, that statute provides no authority to arrest anyone for anything; rather, it sets forth the categories of individuals who may be *housed* in a jail after they have been arrested or sentenced. Nor can the Sheriff locate any arrest authority in common law or federal law. The district court therefore erred and must be reversed.

# A. Continued Detention Based on an Immigration Detainer Is a New Arrest.

Keeping a person in jail after he would otherwise be free to leave constitutes a new arrest, and therefore requires applicable arrest authority. Montana courts "accord 'arrest' a broad definition determined by whether a reasonable person . . . would have felt free to walk away under the circumstances." *State v. Ellington*, 2006 MT 219, ¶ 14, 333 Mont. 411, 143 P.3d 119; *see also State v. Van Dort*, 2003 MT 104, ¶ 12, 315 Mont. 303, 68 P.3d 728 (same test). Thus, an arrest occurs anytime there is "an actual restraint of the person to be arrested." Mont. Code Ann. § 46-6-104. The arrest criteria are met when a sheriff keeps someone in jail for a new purpose who would otherwise be released.

Restraining an individual in this manner—effectuating an arrest—is exactly what an immigration detainer asks for. The detainer asks the Sheriff to start a new period of detention for a new purpose when the person would otherwise be free to leave. In response, the Sheriff—if he chooses to comply with the request—restrains the person by keeping the jail door locked, making clear that the person is not "free to walk away." *Ellington*, 2006 MT 219, ¶ 14.6 That new restraint for a new purpose

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Indeed, in Mr. Ramon's case, jail officials informed the bail-bondsman that they would not release Mr. Ramon even if bond was posted. *See* Doc. 5 ¶¶ 8-10; Doc. 4 ¶¶ 11-13.

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