09/09/2019

Bowen Greenwood

CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT

STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 18-0661

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 18-0661

#### **AGUSTIN RAMON**

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

#### DARREN SHORT

Defendant and Appellee.

#### DEFENDANT and APPELLEE'S AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF

On Appeal from the Nineteenth Judicial District Court, Cause No. DV 18-218, the Honorable Matthew Cuffe presiding.

#### Maureen H. Lennon

MACo Defense Services 2717 Skyway Drive, Suite F, Helena, MT 59602-1213 Attorneys for Appellee, Darren Short

### Alex Rate Elizabeth K. Ehret

ACLU of Montana P.O. Box 1968 Missoula, MT 59806 Attorneys for Appellant Ramon

## **Shahid Haque**

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The issues on appeal are moot. Ramon left LCDC on February 11, 2019 making injunctive relief impossible. The exceptions to the mootness doctrine do not apply because this is not a case of public interest and because Ramon is not reasonably likely to find himself in the same predicament at any time in the future. Finally, Judge Cuffe correctly held that the Lincoln County Sheriff's policy of complying with the federal government's immigration detainer request is lawful under Montana law.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# **I.** Ramon's Appeal is Moot.

Judicial authority is limited to justiciable controversies. *Plan Helena, Inc. v. Helena Regl. Airport Auth. Bd.*, 2010 MT 26, ¶ 6, 355 Mont. 142, 226 P.3d 567; *Gateway Opencut Mining Action Group v. Bd. of County Commrs.*, 2011 MT 198, ¶ 16, 361 Mont. 398, 260 P.3d 133; *State v. Benn*, 2012 MT 33, ¶ 9, 364 Mont. 153, 274 P.3d 47. A justiciable controversy is not political; it is not philosophical; it is not advisory; it is not academic. *Plan Helena*, ¶ 8. It is a living controversy

upon which the court's judgement will operate. *Id.* Absent a justiciable controversy, the court is without authority to pass judgment.

The issue on appeal is whether to grant the injunctive relief requested by Ramon. Specifically, whether to enjoin the Lincoln County Sheriff from detaining him for up to 48 hours pursuant to an immigration detainer request from federal officials. Ramon is no longer in the custody of Lincoln County. Hence, his request for injunctive relief is moot in that he no longer presents a justiciable controversy for purposes of this appeal. (Ramon's underlying action for damages related to the alleged unlawful detention remains with the District Court.)

Mootness frequently is described by this Court as "the doctrine of standing set in a time frame;" the requisite personal interest that must exist at the commencement of the litigation and must continue throughout the litigation.

Greater Missoula Area Federation of Early Childhood Educators v. Child Start,

Inc., 2009 MT 362, ¶ 23, 353 Mont. 201, 219 P.3d 881. Thus, if the issue presented at the outset of the action has ceased to exist or if the court is unable due to a change in circumstances to grant effective relief or to restore the parties to their original positions, then the issue before the court is moot. Id.; Gateway Opencut, ¶ 16; Benn, ¶ 9.

Ramon's case is moot due to "a change of circumstances prior to the appellate decision." His sentencing on the burglary charge for which he was

incarcerated and subsequent release from the LCDC renders injunctive relief impossible. See Serena Vista L.L.C. v. State of Montana Dep't of Nat. Res. & Conservation, 2008 MT 65, ¶13, 324 Mont. 73, 179 P.3d 510. Nevertheless, Ramon asks this Court to find an exception to the mootness doctrine for the sole purpose of obtaining a decision on whether it is lawful for local law enforcement agencies to cooperate with federal immigration authorities by detaining an inmate for a maximum of 48 hours after he or she is eligible to be released from custody. This issue has nothing to do with Ramon's request for injunctive relief.

Ramon argues this case remains ripe for decision based on two "related" exceptions to the mootness doctrine: the public interest exception and the exception for cases of short duration capable of repetition. (Appellant's Opening Br. 8.) These exceptions, while sometimes conflated, are neither related nor are they applicable to Ramon's appeal.

# A. Ramon's Case Does Not Fall Within the Public Interest Exception.

The public interest exception to the mootness doctrine is a tool used by some courts under limited circumstances to resurrect issues not otherwise justiciable.

When applied, the exception has been strictly limited to issues which are 1) capable of repetition; 2) circumvented by the mootness doctrine; and 3) so important to the public interest as to justify overriding the mootness doctrine. 5

Am. Jur. 2d Appellate Review § 560 (emphasis added).

Ramon argues that 135 immigration detainer requests were dispatched by the Department of Homeland Security (DHS) to Montana counties in 2017 and 2018. He cites only two other inmates who have filed suit as a result. As will be argued below, Ramon was not detained pursuant to the detainer request because his bond was never posted and he was never eligible to leave. Regardless, even if Ramon is included in this survey, these statistics do not represent repetition so significant or public interest so strong that the exception should become the rule.

B. Ramon Mistakenly Seeks Shelter Under the "capable of repetition yet evading review" Exception to the Mootness Doctrine.

The "capable of repetition yet evading review" exception only applies "where the challenged conduct *invariably* ceases before courts fully can adjudicate the matter." The party invoking the exception also must establish that "there is a reasonable expectation that the same complaining party will be subject to the same action again." *Zunski v. Frenchtown Rural Fire Dep't Bd. of Trustees*, 2013 MT 258, ¶ 22, 371 Mont. 552, 557, 309 P.3d 21, 25–26 (quoting *Havre Daily News, LLC v. City of Havre*, 2006 MT 215, ¶¶ 33–34, 333 Mont. 331, 142 P.3d 864). *Grabow v. Montana High School Ass'n*, 2000 MT 159, ¶ 15, 300 Mont. 227, ¶ 15, 3 P.3d 650, ¶ 15 (citing *Common Cause*, 263 Mont. at 328, 868 P.2d at 606–07) (A party seeking to invoke the "capable of repetition, yet evading review" exception to the mootness doctrine bears the burden of establishing both that the challenged action is too short in duration to be litigated fully before its cessation and that there *Defendant and Appellee's Amended Answer Brief - 5* 

is a reasonable expectation that the same complaining party would be subject to the same action again.) *See also Petition of Billings High Sch. Dist. No. 2 v. Billings Gazette*, 2006 MT 329, ¶ 14, 335 Mont. 94, 98, 149 P.3d 565, 570; *Serena Vista L.L.C.*, 2008 MT 65, ¶910; *Skinner v. Lewis and Clark*, 1999 MT 106, ¶ 18, 294 Mont. 310, ¶ 18, 980 P.2d 1049, ¶ 18.

Ramon does not argue that there is the slightest chance, let alone a reasonable expectation, that he will be subject to the same action again. Instead, he cites *Gateway Opencut* for the proposition that the "same complaining party" is not a requirement. (Appellant's Opening Br. 12-13.) *Gateway Opencut* does not stand for that proposition nor did it apply the exception. *Gateway Opencut* ¶ 25.

To further support this argument, Ramon relies on a handful of cases tailored to very specific issues not present here. For example, in *In re D.K.D.* this Court held:

As a preliminary matter, we briefly address whether this case is moot in light of the fact that the court's commitment order, by its terms, expired on March 16, 2011. While not an issue raised by either party, "courts have an independent obligation to determine whether jurisdiction exists and, thus, whether constitutional justiciability requirements ... have been met." *Plan Helena, Inc. v. Helena Reg'l Airport Auth. Bd.*, 2010 MT 26, ¶ 11, 355 Mont. 142, 226 P.3d 567 (internal citations omitted). In line with our precedent in involuntary commitment cases, the duration of which is often too short to allow issues to be fully litigated prior to respondent's release from the institution, we conclude that this issue is not mooted by the fact that the District Court's order expired on March 16, 2011, because it falls under the "capable of repetition, yet evading review" exception to the mootness doctrine. *See e.g. In re D.M.S.*, 2009 MT 41, ¶ 10, 349 Mont.

257, 203 P.3d 776; *In re Mental Health of D.V.*, 2007 MT 351, ¶¶ 30–32, 340 Mont. 319, 174 P.3d 503 (internal citations omitted); *In re N.B.*, 190 Mont. 319, 322–23, 620 P.2d 1228, 1231 (1980).

*In re D.K.D.*, 2011 MT 74, ¶ 14, 360 Mont. 76, 80, 250 P.3d 856, 859. With few exceptions, to pass muster under the "capable of repetition yet evading review" exception, the same complaining party must be at risk.

# II. Judge Cuffe Correctly Held that Montana Law Authorizes Civil Detention Pursuant to an Immigration Detainer Request.

Ramon maintains that "[K]eeping a person in jail after he would otherwise be free to leave constitutes a new arrest and therefore requires applicable arrest authority." (Appellant's Opening Br. 15.) The flaw in this argument is that Ramon was in jail on burglary charges and was never "otherwise free to leave." Ramon quotes the jail roster as noting "can bond but do not release." (Appellant's Opening Br. 3.) Clearly, the bond agent was not prevented from posting bond and, when he decided not to do so, Ramon and his representative were free to contact another bond agent. The act necessary to trigger his eligibility to be "otherwise free to leave" did not occur. Ramon remained incarcerated on burglary charges until he was sentenced and released on February 11, 2019.

Ramon argues that holding an individual after the resolution of state charges is a new arrest. He was not held after resolution of state charges. As noted above, Ramon was released in February 2019 after being sentenced on those charges. The cases cited by Ramon, in which the courts held detentions pursuant to immigration

detainers to be new arrests, involve the detention of inmates who had actually been released as Ramon was on February 11, 2019. *See e.g. Lunn v. Commonwealth*, 477 Mass. 517, 78 N.E.3d 1143 (2017) (Lunn was placed in a holding cell at the courthouse after the Judge dismissed all charges against him pursuant to a detainer request); *People ex. rel. Wells v. DeMarco*, 168 A.D.3d 318 N.Y.S.3d 518 (2018) (members of sheriff's office placed the defendant in a cell rented by ICE after all charges against him were dismissed by the court). That was not the case with Ramon, who relies on what would have happened had his bond been posted or the charges dismissed instead of what actually happened.

As to Ramon's argument that Montana sheriffs have no authority to detain an inmate on a civil detainer request, Judge Cuffe disagreed, holding:

. . . an immigration detainer falls within the authority of MCA §7-32-2201(3) as confinement of persons upon civil process and/or confinement of persons upon civil process and/or confinement of by other authority of law. The court finds the Lincoln County Detention Center does have the authority under Montana law to detain Plaintiff on a civil immigration detainer.

(Order Denying Appl. for TRO and Prelim. Inj. (Nov. 16, 2018) (Appellant's Opening Br. App. 1.)

Judge Cuffe's holding that Montana law does not prohibit local law enforcement from cooperating with federal immigration authorities is sound.

Immigration enforcement is a civil process and Montana law authorizes local jails to confine "persons committed for contempt or upon civil process or by other

Defendant and Appellee's Amended Answer Brief - 8

authority of law." Mont. Code Ann. § 7-32-2203(3) (2017). Ramon was arrested for burglary and confined to LCDC on that charge. Even if he had been otherwise free to leave, the statute does not require immediate release. The statute is not limited to the authority of Montana law or state civil process. Immigration enforcement is a civil process under federal law.

Inmates who post bond or are otherwise released from custody may be detained for a certain period during the release process. Detention facilities are afforded a reasonable amount of time to complete the release process, which varies from facility to facility depending on tasks undertaken and the press of day-to-day operations. Although the detention of an inmate on an immigration detainer is not a routine part of the release process, the expectation that an inmate will be released immediately upon the posting of bond is neither reasonable nor required by law. Courts have held that a reasonable amount of time for completing this process may be up to 48 hours, depending on the circumstances. *Cty. of Riverside v. McLaughlin*, 500 U.S. 44, 56, 111 S.Ct. 1661, 114 L.Ed.2d 49 (1991).

Inmates subject to an immigration detainer are taken into custody by federal agents often immediately, but in no case more than two hours after the jail receives notice that the conditions of release have been met. The time period in which inmates subject to an immigration detainer are held is negligible and well within the "reasonable" time frame Courts have allotted to administrative tasks. The

negligible period is not sufficient to cause injury to the inmate. Of course, since Ramon was not released, he was not subject to the detention.

In summary, Ramon's incarceration was not the result of the detainer request or the conversation between LCDC staff and bond agent Rowe. Rowe decided not to post bond when he learned Ramon would be taken into custody by border patrol upon his release. Ramon decided against posting bond when he learned he would be taken into custody by border patrol upon his release.

#### CONCLUSION

As detailed herein, the mootness doctrine invalidates Ramon's appeal.

Moreover, the District Court properly held that the Lincoln County Sheriff's practice of holding inmates for up to 48 hours at the request of immigration officials is authorized by Montana law. While Ramon was not eligible to leave LCDC until February 11, 2019, had a bond agent actually posted bond for him, the Sheriff would have been within his authority to detain Ramon pursuant to the border patrol's immigration detainer request.

For the reasons stated herein, the Lincoln County Sheriff respectfully requests this Court declare this appeal moot. In the alternative, should the Court find it appropriate to rule on whether cooperation with the federal immigration detainer request at issue is lawful, the Lincoln County Sheriff asks that the Court

affirm Judge Cuffe's ruling holding that such cooperation is authorized under Montana law.